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2.1 Historical Sources

The chief historical source used in this study is the Victoria County
History (VCH) of Huntingdonshire and Northamptonshire. These
provide a general background to the Soke of Peterborough and the
development of the town itself.

2.2 The Historic Environment Record (formerly SMR)

The HER search was conducted within a radius of 0.5km of the
development areas (Fig. 2), this produced 39 records detailed in
Appendix 2. 

There are 2 entries within the RW2 proposed development area
(PHER 01396 and PHER 01396a).

As the RW1 development site sits south of the River Nene it was
previously in Huntingdonshire. Contact was made with the Huntingdon
Record Office, however no different HER entries were available and
also no early pre-OS maps, i.e. tithe maps, covered either of the
development areas (Ackroyd pers. comm.).

2.3     Cartographic Evidence

Several historic maps were consulted at PHER. They range in date
from 1610 to the 1950s. 

The maps used demonstrate the previous land uses of the
development areas and are as follows:

� 1610  Speeds Map
� 1808  Hill’s Map
� 1829  Burtons Map
� 1862  George Smith’s Map
� 1886 Ordnance Survey Map
� 1900-01 Ordnance Survey Map
� 1928 Ordnance Survey Map
� 1958-59 Ordnance Survey Map
� 1967-78 Ordnance Survey Map
� Undated – Halliday’s Map

2.4 Archaeological Excavations and Surveys

No known archaeological surveys or excavations have taken place
within the development areas; however, three excavations have taken
place close to the river edge within the wider study area. 
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Summary

This Desk-Based assessment was commissioned by Meridian
consultants and carried out by CAM ARC between the 17th April and
1st May 2008. The report was written in advance of the proposed
residential and commercial development over the two Railworld sites.
The first site, referred to as RW1, is located on the southern bank of
the River Nene and the second site, referred to as RW2, is located on
the northern bank. The study attempts to define any possible
archaeological potential of the land at the two sites.

As it stands today the first development area (RW1) is a railway
museum and exhibition centre called Railworld. Prior to this the land
was the site of the former Woodston Locomotive shed and also used
as railway sidings. Nationalisation of the railway network in 1948 saw
the line enter the hands of British Rail, however steady decline led to
closure in 1972. The locomotive shed was demolished around 1965
and all of the sidings removed.

The land at the RW1 site has been subject to several episodes of
ground make-up associated with the railway construction. This may
have sealed archaeological remains. 

The second development area (RW2) is currently open scrubland and
being used for storage of materials by the adjacent railway. A coal yard
was constructed in the southeastern corner of the site circa 1948,
however this was demolished in the late 1970s. Prior to this there is
little evidence of the site having any development or structures upon it.
It is likely that this land is part of the flood plain for the River Nene and
was waterlogged during certain times of the year. 

Nearby archaeological activity has revealed evidence from a wide
range of historical periods mainly consisting of waterside related
activities. 500m to the east of RW2, also on northern bank of the Nene,
a complete Iron Age canoe was discovered. A possible boat-landing
place called ‘Wodehithe’ is located in the southeastern corner of RW2
and evidence of water channelling is present on the early pre-OS maps
of the area. These could possibly be leats for a nearby
watermill/windmill or boat hythes for access. Also there is the potential
to uncover further, undocumented, railway features at both sites. 
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1 Introduction

1.1 Planning Background

Meridian Consultants commissioned a desktop study from
Cambridgeshire County Council, CAM ARC (formerly Archaeological
Field Unit). The aim of this assessment is to determine the
archaeological potential of the proposed Railworld sites prior to
redevelopment.

The work contained in this document is entirely produced from a desk-
based assessment and does not include any data from physical
investigation at the proposed development sites with the exception of
the Borehole Survey undertaken by Environmental Protection
Strategies Ltd (see section 2.4.1 below).

1.2 Location, Topography and Geology

The proposed Railworld development is located over two separate
areas, either side of the River Nene in Peterborough town centre
(Fig.1). The first Railworld site, (hereafter referred to as RW1), is
irregular in shape and lies to the South of the river Nene. It is bounded
by Oundle road (A605) to the south, the River Nene to the north, the
Woodston Reach Path and Cycle track to the west and the railway line
to the east. The site is currently used as an exhibition centre and
museum and is located next door to the Nene Valley railway station.
The RW1 development covers an area of 15000m² and is centred at
TL 1885 9813. The second development area (hereafter RW2) lies to
the north of the River Nene on part of the former Coal Yard. It is
roughly a quarter circle shape and is bounded by River Lane to the
north and west and the River Nene to the south. The RW2
development area covers an area of 21000m² and is centred at TL
1870 9826. Both sites lie at a height of approximately 5m OD.

The underlying geology comprises of alluvium below made ground.
(British Geological Survey 1984, Sheet 158)

2 Archaeological and Historical Sources

This study comprises of data collated from the Peterborough Historic
Environment Record (PCHER) and Huntingdon Records Office. Other
grey literature reports located at CAM ARC were also consulted. The
PHER research was conducted within a radius of 0.5km of the
development areas. 
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Excavations between the Rivergate road-bridge and the railway bridge
in 1950 (PHER 01665/01665a) 300m to the east of the RW1 site,
revealed a Late Bronze Age/Early Iron Age Canoe 5.1m below the
present river level. 

An evaluation at 120 Bridge Street Feb 2003, 350m to the north east of
the development areas (PHER 51274), identified a line of upright
timbers set along the river edge and into an in-filled palaeochannel
containing 13th century artefacts. The timbers may have formed a
structure to protect the bridgehead from the effects of tidal scouring. 

Excavations between 2000-2003 have taken place at the former
Marshall’s garage, 250m to the south of the development areas (PHER
51105/51214/51262). These revealed a few tentatively dated
prehistoric pits and ditches and post medieval ridge and furrow farming
and possible fairground structures. The lack of archaeological features
has been attributed to the disturbance by the former land use. 

A number of further excavations have taken place within the 0.5km
search area. These are listed in Appendix 2.

2.4.1  Borehole Survey

Environmental Protection Strategies Ltd conducted a borehole survey
on the two development sites. The results from this are displayed in
Appendix 4.

The RW 1 site revealed made ground ranging from 1.2m to 3.7m in
depth, which overlay dark bluish soft clay with some sand and organic
matter.

The RW 2 site again revealed made ground ranging from 3m to 5.2m
deep, which overlay river deposits of silt, silty clay and peat. The
borehole closest to the river revealed only 1.4m of made ground then a
further 8.3m of river deposits.

The made ground on both sites consisted of course angular gravel with
brick, coal and clinker inclusions.

3 Official Designations

There are no official designations on the development sites themselves
but there are two within the 0.5km search area. 

The Church of St Augustine of Cantebury (PHER 51158) is a Grade 1
listed building and was mostly re-built and re-modelled in 1844,
however it does display several original features. Pre-conquest
masonry is exposed in the west wall below the tower and four 12th
century windows have been reset in the tower itself.
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28-30 Priestgate (PHER 51509), a Grade II listed building, was subject
to a building survey in 2001, which revealed that it was probably 16th

century in origin. It is a rubble and timber frame construction in an
irregular L-shape. The surviving building has been altered many times
and one of the most important was after the Second World War when
the building was restored to what was thought to be its original form.
The present building is a relic of one late medieval house complete
with its stair turret, and a fragment of another to the west that had its
own stair turret. This latter was largely obliterated when the Chapel
next door was built (Mackreth, 2001).

Peterborough has numerous other listed buildings, however these are
far enough from the development areas to have little significance to the
history and development of the site.

4 Archaeological and Historical Background

4.1  Palaeolithic to Iron Age (40,000BC – AD43)

Evidence of prehistoric activity in the immediate vicinity is scarce and
generally confined to stray finds and a few dateable features. Stray
finds include a ‘fossilised antler carved into an axe’ (PHER 1396) found
on the RW2 development site itself. A single sherd of Late Bronze Age
pottery (PCHER 01665a) was recovered from the river silts during the
1950 excavation of a probable Early Iron Age dug-out canoe (PCHER
01665). Neolithic Peterborough Ware and worked flint were found in a
scatter of pits and gullies at an excavation carried out at The Walnuts,
Oundle road (PHER 51221). 400m to the north west of the RW2 site a
prehistoric flint knife was discovered (PHER 01398), also to the
northwest just outside of the search area, Neolithic barbed and tanged
arrowheads were found just south of Thorpe Road (PHER 01358 and
PHER 01400). Other pre-historic features found nearby have been
dated more ambiguously; ditches and a single pit were discovered at
the Marshall’s Garage site 2000-2003 (PHER 51105/51214), these
have been tentatively dated to the prehistoric period due to the leached
nature of their fills.

4.2 Roman (AD43 – 450)

The site lies within the Nene Valley, an area known to be rich in
Roman remains including settlements at Castor, Durobrivae and
Longthorpe. A Romano-British settlement site is believed to have
existed to the northwest of the development area in the area of Bridge
Street; nine 2nd century coins were discovered here along with Nene
valley ware pottery (PHER 8762). Stray finds in the area include
Roman coins found during the construction of the railway line (PHER
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1444), five mid 2nd to mid 3rd century coins found in the area of the
Manor House, New Fletton (PHER 1617) and on the RW2
development itself a fragment of Roman Castor pottery (PHER 1396a).

4.3 Saxon (AD450 – 1066)

No evidence of Saxon occupation has been found within the search
area. However a monastery was established within Peterborough
during the Mid Saxon period and while the date of its foundation is not
certain, Bede’s history of the English church suggest a date of around
AD 653 to 699 (Mackreth 1994 in Cooper, 1998). This may well have
been located in close proximity to a Mercian royal centre (op. cit.) and
there is little doubt that this monastery at ‘Medeshamstede’, the first to
be constructed within Mercian Lands, quickly became a most important
centre in both religious and secular life. The destruction of the
monastery by the Danes in AD 870 is unlikely to have been as
catastrophic as later writers made out, as the monastery continued as
a successful house into the late Saxon period (Mackreth 1984).

The late Saxon period in Peterborough saw the construction of set
defences, enclosing the early church and some of it associated
buildings (Mackreth 1984 and 1994), although traditionally
Peterborough has not been recognised as a Danish or Edwardian
burghal location. A substantial stone-built wall foundation, around 2m
thick, has been identified at two points on the north side of the shaded
area in Figure 3, and this appears to have been cut into an earlier
revetted bank. Using this information Mackreth has proposed the full
circuit as shown, based on field observation and cartographic study
together with an unpublished trench at the southern end of the east
side which found vestiges of a wall cut into a bank (op. cit. 1994, 14)
and another unpublished trench on the southern side which found a
rampart and two stages of ditch (Don Mackreth Pers. Comm.). 

The historical context within which the burghal defences are proposed
hinges on the fact that by AD 1006, in his life of St Aethelwold, Aelfric
states that ‘the monastery by the Nene that Aethelwold re-founded was
once called Medeshamstede, but was now called Burgh’ (quoted in
Mackreth 1984, 16). This is the origin of the second part of the name of
the town of Peterborough (Spoerry and Hinman, 1998).

4.4 Medieval (1066 – 1500)

The new town of Peterborough was laid out in the first half of the 12th
century, just to the west of the Saxon burgh and vill (Ben Robinson,
pers. comm.) Large amounts of documentary information have been
recorded regarding the cathedral and its construction, however it lies at
a sufficient distance from the development sites not to have an impact
upon the land use itself.
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The RW1 site lies close to the Oundle Road, the meandering course of
which served the historic settlements of Yaxley, Farcet, Stanground,
Fletton, Woodston, Botolph Bridge and Orton Longueville forming a
loop within the two arms of the Nene, rejoining Ermine Street at
Alwalton. Even though the Oundle Road connects many small
settlements along its route, direct access to Peterborough from south
of the Nene before the end of the 11th century (or maybe even later)
could only be achieved by ferry (Hatton 2004).

During the 16th century ‘The Bridge Fair’ was held on 50 acres of land
south of the River Nene, within the parish of Fletton (Page, Proby &
Ladds 1974), The site is still the location of the modern Peterborough
Fairs, indicating continuity of usage over the centuries. Further
documentary evidence for fairs was sought at the Peterborough HER
but no further information was gained (Rebecca Casa-Hatton. pers.
comm.)

Archaeological remains in close proximity to the site consist of
evidence of tree felling and a roadway laid across the floodplain at TL
1914/9838 discovered during excavations within the medieval town
(PHER 01391) 350m to the north east of the development sites. No
evidence of occupation before the 12th century was found, however
the site does show a complicated and slow development taking place
over the next 300 years, involving at least two sets of ditches and the
gradual colonisation of the plot by buildings.

Nearby stray finds to the development sites include a 13th to 14th
century key (PHER 1395) found just to the north of the RW2 site. This
is probably just a casual loss but indicates that the site was subject to
activity in the 13th to 14th century. Further to the east near to Bridge
Street, several medieval artefacts have been found including a harness
and an iron key, both 14th century and a pair of scissors dated to the
15th century. To the northwest an Edward I farthing was found (PHER
1399).

Excavations between 1975 and 1976 carried out at the land between
78 and 84 Bridge Street (PHER 01655), demonstrated that the area
was initially wooded, probably with willow and alder. Prior to the 12th
century a channel had been cut through the silts, possibly for drainage
or boat access alongside a causeway that marks the early route of
Bridge Street. The channel had been revetted with wattle against a
bordering clay bank. The earliest timber building on the site dates to
the 12th century. Over the next 300 hundred years further timber
structures were constructed, some encroaching on the in-filled channel
course. There was a continual build-up of structures and floors at the
street side so that an artificial mound was created. During the 15th or
16th century buildings with stone footings were constructed and there
is evidence for a jettied timber framed house on the street front. This
building survived in a mutilated condition until 1928. From at least the
16th century much of the length of the plot was built up. The whole site
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began to become level with the height of the street front when stone
was used as the main building material. 

Two medieval coffin-lids were found within the churchyard of St
Augustine of Canterbury church (PHER 51159). The church itself
(PHER 51158) displays signs of alteration during the medieval period.
The north wall of the Chancel has the remains of a 14th century
doorway. In the southern transept there is a window of three stepped
lancet lights dating to circa 1300. The southern arcade dates to the
14th or 15th century and the church also contains a 13th century font.

A nearby riverside excavation at 130 Bridge Street was carried out in
2002-2003 (PHER 51274). Two trenches were excavated and revealed
a line of upright timbers set along the edge of the River Nene and into
an in-filled palaeochannel that contained 13th century artefacts. The
timbers were unsuitable for dendrochronology but were sealed
beneath horizons containing 15th century material. The timbers may
have formed a structure to protect the bridgehead from the effects of
tidal scouring or alternatively they could have formed a section of
wharf. The in-filled river channel material to their rear indicates that a
degree of land reclamation and perhaps channel straightening took
place in the medieval period.

Excavations at Regency Way, 600m to the northwest and slightly
outside of the search area, revealed a possible medieval limekiln
(PHER 01630)

Evidence for Medieval ridge and furrow (PCHER 51262), long since
removed by modern development, lies just south of the development
areas, 180m from the rivers edge. Although slightly further away from
the river edge than the proposed development it is significant as it
displays in its earlier presence that land close to the River Nene was
not waterlogged during the medieval period.

4.5  Post Medieval and Modern (1500 - 1970)

The chief source of post medieval information for the development
areas derives from Ordnance Survey maps and the main influence
within the search area comes from the construction of Peterborough’s
railway lines. 

In 1827 a scheme had been proposed for a London-York railway, but it
was not followed through. In 1844 a trunk route plan was revived by
the London & York Railway, supported by Edmund Denison, MP for
the West Riding of Yorkshire and William Cubitt as engineer. The plan
proposed a main line from London via Hitchin, Peterborough and
Grantham, a loop line from Peterborough to Bawtry south of Doncaster
via Boston and Lincoln, and branch lines to Sheffield and Wakefield. 
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This basically became the core of the future Great Northern Railway.
Under the 1923 Grouping, it became part of the London & North
Eastern Railway. 

The modern railway line forms the eastern boundary of the RW1
development site. To the immediate south of the site runs the Nene
valley railway, a short length of the original London, Midlands and
Scottish Railway. This originally formed the first railway to arrive in
Peterborough from Blisworth, via Northampton, Thrapston, Oundle and
Wansford with the very first passenger train along the Nene Valley
departing Peterborough at 7 o'clock on Monday 2nd June 1845. The
Nene Valley railway of today is the eastern section of this line
(Unknown, 2008). 

Clearly marked on the 1886 OS map, the RW1 development site had
an ‘Engine Shed’ for this railway line built on it called the Woodston
Locomotive depot (Plate 1) and by 1900 there was a substantial
number of railway sidings, a ‘Tank’ and a turntable installed on the site.
The engine shed and sidings are present until the 1967-78 OS map
where they are no longer visible and appear to have been demolished
around 1965. The land is currently being used as a museum and
exhibition centre called Railworld. Part of the Woodston Locomotive
Shed brick floor remains, currently in Railworld's Car Park, also 3/4 of
the original turntable pit has been exposed (Turner, pers comm.).

The main body of the RW2 site shows little cartographic evidence of
any development. The land immediately to the east formed part of the
Great Northern railway line as outlined above, and contained a large
number of railway sidings. Drainage channels can be seen on the 1808
Hills map, dividing the land into two separate areas.

A coal yard was constructed circa 1948 in the southeastern corner of
the site, however, it was later demolished in the 1970’s. The only
remains of the coal yard are part of the conveyor belt, which goes
under the March-Ely Railway Line. Also, close to the eastern fence
with the main line, is a small platelayers hut, which is still present and
used as a boiler room (Turner, pers. comm. 2008)

Recent Aerial photography from 1998 shows that the site has been
partially stripped of topsoil at some point, however for what reason this
was undertaken is unknown.

Other post medieval activity within the search area has been recorded
on the PHER; a 17th century vase and wine bottle were discovered
during bridge excavations in 1931 (PHER 200), glazed and un-glazed
pottery was discovered at the Power Station in 1950 (PHER 4127) and
during excavations between 1975-1976 on the west side of Bridge
Street a 17th century donkey mill was discovered (PHER 1655a).
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5 Confidence Rating

5.1 Historical Sources

The Victoria County History of Northamptonshire and Huntingdonshire
provide detailed outlines of the history of the town’s development and a
detailed study of many of its principle buildings.

These two volumes provided useful and reliable information on the
historic, economic and social development of Peterborough.

5.2 The Historic Environment Record (formerly SMR)

A radius of 0.5km around the site was searched in the HER this
yielded 39 records of archaeological finds, features and events. Two
listed buildings were found within the search area, The Church of St
Augustine of Canterbury, which is a grade I listed building and 28-30
Priestgate, which is a grade II listed medieval house.

5.3     Cartographic Evidence

The cartographic evidence proved to be one of the most useful
resources for studying the development areas. Speeds map from 1610
shows the development area as open fields/meadows with a windmill
to the northwest (Fig.4). There are no further maps of the area until
Hill’s 1808 map, which shows that the RW2 site is divided in two by a
water channel. The southwestern section of the site labelled as
‘Coxholme’. To the east the land is called ‘The Dams’ and to the north
‘Swines Meadow’. Again a windmill can be seen to the northwest close
to ‘Wansford Road’. 

Burton’s 1829 map again shows the channels dividing the RW2 site
however the land near the river is called ‘The Meadows’ and ‘The
Dams’ is to the west (Fig.6). The windmill can be seen to again
(approximately 700m to the northwest) however the road name has
changed to ‘Turnpike Road’, (Thorpe Road today). This map also
depicts part of the early development of the railway network in
Peterborough.

The later OS maps of the area are useful to display the development of
the Railway network in the area. The 1886 map clearly shows the
Engine shed on the RW1 site that develops to have more sidings and
associated buildings around it until the 1967 OS map, whereby it
appears to have been demolished (Figs. 8 and 12)
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Halliday's map is similar to Hill’s 1808 map, showing the area north of
RW2 as ‘Swines Meadow’, the southern part as ‘Coxholme’ and also
shows the smaller part of the RW2 site as ‘Swines Pyghtel’. The latter
of these fields is interenting as ‘Pyghtel’ originates from a the Saxon
work ‘Pyghtle’ meaning small enclosure.

These ditches could have formed leats or channels running back from
hythes, two of the ditches leading to the river terminate at ‘Wodehithe’,
indicating the latter interpretation may be more likely. A causeway is
present on the map leading to ‘Wodehithe’ from the Sacrist’s Holdings,
today called River Lane. 

Halliday's map also mentions a possible Windmill located nearby circa
1316-17; its exact location is unknown however it is separate from the
windmill located to the northwest. The ditches here may be associated
with the windmill as either leats or boat access hythes for the mill.

5.4 Archaeological Excavations and Surveys

No known archaeological surveys have taken place on either of the
Railworld development sites, however several archaeological
excavations and evaluations have taken place within the 0.5km study
area, listed in Appendix 2, revealing mainly pre-historic and medieval
activity.

6 Degree of Survival of Archaeological Remains

This section broadly assesses the potential degree of survival of
archaeological remains in the designated areas by deposit mapping.
The assessment takes the form of a prediction model based on
probability and not certainty. It is intended as a guide only.

Development at these two sites, in such close proximity to the River
Nene will have an impact on the survival of any archaeological
remains. The geology is alluvium below ‘made ground’, human activity
on the site and in the surrounding area would have been focussed on
land reclamation from the river flood plains, before any direct
settlement/occupation could take place. 

Both sites are situated next to a bend in the River Nene and the lack of
any development on the northern edge of the river would indicate that
this land was originally part of the flood plain and subject to regular
flooding and river meander. Only by altering the course of the river
through bank construction and canalisation could flooding be
prevented and the land reclaimed. 

The lack of documented activity on the RW2 site in particular could
suggest the possibility of survival of pre-historic archaeological
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remains. The presence of two stray finds on the site and two more
nearby, should not necessarily be viewed as an indication of any
archaeological history; due to the location next to the river, it is
possible that these are intrusive finds brought onto the site by river
dredging, casual loss or possibly even flooding. Also the large amount
of ‘made ground’ on the site could have sealed previous archaeological
deposits. The presence of ditches across and a possible windmill on
historical maps could mean that medieval remains are also present.

The RW1 site again consists of ‘made ground’ over alluvium, again
possibly sealing any archaeological deposits. The construction of the
railway turntable and locomotion shed could have damaged any
archaeological activity, depending on the depths of the foundations. 

7 Rating

Based on the distribution of known finds and their degree of survival in
the study area, as defined in the previous sections, rating can be
summarised as follows:

Period Distribution Survival
Prehistoric Low Unknown
Roman Low Unknown
Saxon Low-Moderate Low
Medieval High Variable
Post-Medieval High Good

8 Conclusions

The constant flooding and wetland area around the river may suggest
that little occupation would have taken place on the land until it had
been reclaimed safely. The problematic nature of waterlogged land
close to the riverbanks would have rendered the land uninhabitable
during certain times of the year. 

The only surviving pre-medieval archaeology found on the riverbanks
thus far has been the discovery of the Iron Age canoe, excavated in
1950 on the northern bank of the River Nene. However, this was in
situ, 5.1m below modern ground level, indicating that there would have
been around 3.5m of river deposits above it (based on the 1.5m ‘made
ground’ depth at the South Bank excavations – Hatton 2004). 

Suggested drainage or boat access channels uncovered in the 1975
Bridge Street excavation (PHER 1655), indicates the area was
waterlogged up until around the 12th century. It is not until the
medieval period that we find any evidence of occupation on the land
close to the river. The excavations at Bridge Street in 2002 (PHER
51274) revealed a line of upright timbers set along the edge of the
River Nene and into an in-filled palaeochannel that contained 13th
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century artefacts. The timbers may have formed a structure to protect
the bridgehead from the effects of tidal scouring or alternatively they
could have formed a section of wharf. The occurrence of in-filled river
channel material to their rear indicates that a degree of land
reclamation and perhaps channel straightening took place in the
medieval period. Also medieval ridge and furrow evidence (PCHER
51262) displays that the land in close proximity to the river had been
reclaimed by the medieval period.

At the South Bank excavations of 2004, evaluation trenches placed
close to the river contained at least 1.5 metres of post-medieval ‘made
ground’ before any river deposits or archaeological deposits were
discovered; also concrete foundations for previous structures had
disturbed archaeological deposits. Nevertheless, in trenches 1, 3 and 8
the overburden or made ground, had actually sealed archaeological
remains below it, albeit these were un-dateable due to lack of
artefactual remains (Hatton 2004, 17).

Any surviving archaeological activity at the RW1 development site is
likely to have been subject to similar conditions to the south bank site.
Therefore archaeological remains are likely to have been sealed by the
‘make up’ placed down in the 19th Century with the construction of the
railway network in Peterborough. The depth of make up on this site
varies greatly, as outlined in the bore hole survey (Appendix 4), with up
to 3.7m of make up overlying the area where the locomotion shed
would have once been placed. Also the train turntable has been
partially excavated at the site. The depth at which this was dug down
into the ground is unknown but could also have impacted upon any
remaining archaeological features.

At the RW2 site there is the potential for archaeological remains to
have been preserved at depth within the river deposits as displayed by
the excavation in 1950 on the northern bank of the river. Also the lack
of any development on the site and the waterlogged nature of the land
indicate that the preservation of any archaeological remains would be
good.

Evidence of channels on the historical maps could indicate drainage
channels, boat hythes or leats for a nearby mill. Halliday suggests
there is a mill built in the vicinity of the RW2 site on the north bank of
the river around AD 1316-17, however its exact location is unknown.
The ditches could be the leats for a watermill or boat access hythes for
a windmill. A causeway marked on Halliday’s map, today River Lane,
runs from the road to the north, down to the river Nene and to an area
called ‘Wodehithe’ a boat landing area. This is just inside the
southeastern corner of the RW2 development area. The northern
section of the RW2 site is called ‘Swines Pyghtel’ on Halliday’s map.
Pyghtel is likely to originate from the Saxon word ‘Pyghtle’ or ‘Pightle’,
meaning small enclosure, possibly suggesting some sort of Late Saxon
- Early medieval activity on the land.
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The borehole data suggests that there has been a lot of ground
levelling/make-up on the land in order to make it habitable. Indeed a
channel running diagonally northwest – southeast is present on the
early maps and effectively cuts the land in two, from the borehole data
we can see that where this channel ran a higher volume of make-up
was required, up to 5.2m deep. Slightly to the south and closer to the
river Nene only 1.4m of make up was required, further to the north,
away from the old channel it was 3.5m deep. Indicating that these may
have originally been slightly higher ground areas. However the
borehole closes to the river (BH2 see appendix 4) also revealed a
further 8.3m of silty sandy clayey deposits that are likely to represent
river flooding and silting episodes, before hitting firm natural clay.

Although the land would have been waterlogged during certain times of
the year this does not necessarily mean that the land was not being
used. Settlement evidence before the medieval period is unlikely to be
encountered however remains of waterfront activity such as fishing;
water channelling, canalisation and leats may be present.

This site could provide a good opportunity to establish any potential
remains of the medieval waterfront, and possibly reveal further pre-
historic riverside activity. 
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Appendix 1: Health and Safety Statement

The CAM ARC will ensure that all work is carried out in accordance with
Cambridgeshire County Council’s Health and Safety Policies, to standards
defined in The Health and Safety at Work, etc. Act, 1974 and The
Management of Health and Safety Regulations, 1992, and in accordance with
the manual Health and Safety in Fieldwork Archaeology (SCAUM 1997).

Risk assessments prepared for the CAM ARC office will be adhered to.

The CAM ARC has Public Liability Insurance. Separate professional
insurance is covered by the Public Liability Policy held by the CAM ARC as
part of Cambridgeshire County Council. The CAM ARC’s insurance cover is:

Employers Liability £20,000,000
Public Liability £30,000,000

Full details of Cambridgeshire County Councils’ Health and Safety Policies
and the archaeological unit’s insurance cover can be provided on request.
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M
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E

P
eriod

Form
D

escription

172
TL/1926/9819

lock
M

ed
casual observation, stray find

S
1, Iron padlock found during B

road B
ridge excavations 1879 - 1880. E

xact location of find
site not know

n.

200
TL/1926/9819

bottle, vase
P

 M
ed

casual observation, stray find
S

1, a) V
ase C

17, b) W
ine bottle, both found during B

ridge excavations, 1931. S
ee also R

N
00873 for M

ed bottle found here. E
xact location of find site not know

n.

212
TL/1860/9780

key
M

ed
casual observation, stray find

S
1, C

14 iron key, oval bow
, solid shank, 5,5in long. P

arish form
erly W

oodston. E
xact

location of find site not know
n.

873
TL/1926/9819

bottle
M

ed
casual observation, stray find

S
1, B

ottle found during B
ridge excavations, 1931;S

ee also R
N

 00200 for P
 M

ed bottle found
here. E

xact location of find site not know
n.

1358
TL/183-/986-

arrow
head

N
eolithic

casual observation, stray find
B

arbed and tanged flint arrow
head found in 1891 south of Thorpe R

oad. (If S
 of Thorpe

R
oad, probably TL/183-/985-.)

1395
TL/1880/9840

key
M

ed
casual observation, stray find

R
1, M

ed iron key dug up in R
iver Lane. S

2, iron key, circular bow
, solid shank, C

13 - C
14,

length 8,5in.

1396
TL/1878/9828

handaxe
P

alaeo
casual observation, stray find

R
1, "Fossilised antler carved into an axe". R

o pottery sherd also found, see R
N

 01396a.O
2,

P
eterborough M

useum
 have no know

ledge of these finds. S
m

ith is now
 dead.

1398
Tl/1845/9850

lithic im
plem

ent
P

rehistoric
casual observation, stray find

R
1, A

 flint knife w
as found in Thorpe Lea R

oad before1902.  In P
eterborough M

useum
.

1399
TL/182-/986-

coin
M

edieval
casual observation, stray find

Farthing of E
dw

ard I found before 1899.

1400
TL/1821/9852

arrow
head

N
eolithic

R
1, Flint arrow

head found A
D

 1906. R
2, Found by G

 W
ym

an A
bbott, now

 in P
eterborough

M
useum

. O
2, M

r W
ym

an A
bbott (now

 aged 91) cannot recall this particular find; his flint
collection, now

 in P
eterborough M

useum
, contains nearly 100 arrow

heads. O
3, B

arbed and
tanged arrow

head found in 1906 S
 of Thorpe R

d.
1401

TL/186-/979-
ridge and furrow

M
ed, P

 M
ed

 
C

ultivation rem
ains.  S

ee also grid ref TL/193-/978-.

C
A

M
 A

R
C

 R
eport N

o. 1
0

2
1

1
6



14
44

TL
/1

90
0/

98
20

bo
x,

 c
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d
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l c
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 d
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1924
TL/1860/9780

candlestick
P

 M
ed

casual observation, stray find
S

1, C
17 candlestick found in P

eterborough, form
erly W

oodston parish. E
xact location of find

site not know
n.

4127
TL/1912/9824

pot
M

ed, P
 M

ed
stray find

S
1, P

ot sherds, glazed and unglazed from
 the P

ow
er station, 1950.

8181
TL/1860/9780

brooch, cem
etery,

knife, urn
E

 M
ed

 

R
1, P

agan - A
S

 (?) ( unlocated ). A
 sm

all plain P
agan S

axon urn w
ith an iron knife ( B

M
 )

found in a cem
etery in the late C

19. O
ther objects ( in P

M
 ) including 3 sm

all square-headed
brooches and the bronze m

ounts of a bucket perhaps com
e from

 this 'cem
etery'. There is

som
e confusion in the records w

ith the finds from
 the P

agan S
axon cem

eteries in N
ew

Fletton and W
oodston, but the m

aterial noted above together w
ith chance finds in the area

of the old tow
n suggest there w

as at least one P
agan S

axon cem
etery. S

ee also R
N

 01666
for A

S
 N

ew
 Fletton cem

etery, R
N

 01716 for A
S

 W
oodston cem

etery. E
xact location of find

site not know
n.

8197
TL/1924/9830

bead
E

 M
ed

casual observation, stray find
S

1, C
ircular bead, blue glass w

ith zig zag pattern inlaid in lighter blue. S
ee R

N
 08762a -

possibly sam
e. 08762 - R

B
 settlem

ent site. 08762b,c - M
ed, P

 M
ed finds.

8246
TL/1924/9830

jug
M

ed, P
 M

ed
casual observation, stray find

S
1, a) E

arthenw
are jug found 1900. b) B

ase of hard red w
are jug, late C

15, found 1872.

8252
TL/1860/9780

handle, needle,
pin, strap fitting,

w
orked bone

E
 M

ed
 

S
1,a) P

art of bronze handle, 1817. L377. b) B
ronze fitting, probably from

 door. L390. c)
B

ronze m
ount or strap end, C

9 - C
10, P

eterborough ? L994. d) B
ronze pin. D

r W
alker

bequest. L237. e) W
orked bone. D

r W
alker bequest. C

urved needle or aw
l. L248. E

xact
location of find site not know

n. S
ee also R

N
 01716 for A

S
 W

oodston cem
etry. R

N
 01666 for

A
S

 N
ew

 Fletton cem
etry. E

xact location of find site not know
n.

8762
TL/192-/983-

aw
l, bottle, coin,

pot, settlem
ent

R
o

casual observation, stray find

O
1, R

om
ano-B

ritish settlem
ent site.1885 - 1886 coins from

 B
ridge S

treet 1932 pottery,
m

ainly N
ene V

alley w
are, tw

o glass bottles, bone aw
ls, etc from

 B
ridge S

treet excavations,
O

3, A
ll m

aterial from
 the 1932 w

orkings held by P
eterborough M

useum
. The coin catalogue

lists 9 C
2 coins found in B

ridge S
treet area c 1886. S

ee R
N

 08762a - A
S

 finds, 08762b -
M

ed finds, 08762c - P
 M

ed finds, 01655 - excavation, M
ed finds, 01655a - P

 M
ed finds.

9839
TL/1924/9830

arrow
head,

harness, key, seal,
scissors

M
ed

casual observation, stray find

B
ridge S

treet R
1, (a) S

eal w
ith cross keys; (b) Iron arrow

head found during excavations,
Feb 1879; (c) H

arness around C
14, height 2.6 in; (d) H

arness around C
14, height 1.7 in; (e)

Iron key C
14; (f) P

air scissors, C
15? length 4.7 in.

C
A

M
 A

R
C

 R
eport N

o. 1
0

2
1

1
8



51
15

8
TL

/1
85

8/
97

77
ch

ur
ch

E
 M

ed
, M

ed
, P

 M
ed

ex
ta

nt
 b

ui
ld

in
g

Th
e 

ch
ur

ch
 o

f S
t A

ug
us

tin
e 

of
 C

an
te

rb
ur

y,
 is

 m
en

tio
ne

d 
in

 th
e 

D
om

es
da

y 
S

ur
ve

y 
in

 1
08

6
(R

1)
. C

hu
rc

h 
w

as
 m

os
tly

 re
bu

ilt
 a

nd
 re

m
od

el
le

d 
in

 1
84

4.
 In

 1
88

4 
th

e 
ai

sl
es

 w
er

e 
w

id
en

ed
an

d 
th

e 
ch

an
ce

l e
xt

en
de

d 
ea

st
. T

he
 v

es
try

 w
as

 a
dd

ed
 in

 1
89

6.
 T

he
 c

hu
rc

h 
do

es
 h

ow
ev

er
,

re
ta

in
 s

om
e 

or
ig

in
al

 fe
at

ur
es

. P
re

-C
on

qu
es

t m
as

on
ry

 is
 e

xp
os

ed
 in

 th
e 

w
es

t w
al

l b
en

ea
th

th
e 

to
w

er
, a

lo
ng

 w
ith

 a
 s

m
al

l d
ou

bl
e-

sp
la

ye
d 

w
in

do
w

 (R
2)

. T
he

 re
bu

ilt
 to

w
er

 (1
84

4)
 c

on
ta

in
s

fo
ur

 re
se

t w
in

do
w

s 
(1

2t
h 

ce
nt

ur
y)

 p
os

si
bl

y 
fro

m
 th

e 
be

ll 
to

w
er

 o
f t

he
 fo

rm
er

 c
hu

rc
h.

 B
el

ow
th

es
e 

ru
ns

 a
 1

2t
h 

ce
nt

ur
y 

st
rin

g-
co

ur
se

 w
ith

 h
at

ch
ed

 o
rn

am
en

t. 
Th

e 
ch

an
ce

l h
as

 th
e

re
m

ai
ns

 o
f a

 tw
o-

lig
ht

 w
in

do
w

 a
nd

 th
e 

no
rth

 w
al

l h
as

 a
 1

4t
h 

ce
nt

ur
y 

do
or

w
ay

. I
n 

th
e 

so
ut

h
tra

ns
ep

t t
he

re
 is

 a
n 

or
ig

in
al

 w
in

do
w

 o
f t

hr
ee

 s
te

pp
ed

 la
nc

et
 li

gh
ts

 c
.1

30
0 

. T
he

 s
ou

th
ar

ca
de

, w
ith

 o
ct

ag
on

al
 p

ie
rs

, d
at

es
 to

 th
e 

14
th

 o
r 1

5t
h 

ce
nt

ur
y 

(R
3)

. T
he

re
 is

 a
 1

3t
h 

ce
nt

ur
y

fo
nt

 (R
4)

. S
ee

 R
N

 5
11

59
 fo

r d
et

ai
ls

 o
f c

of
fin

-li
ds

.

51
15

9
TL

/1
85

8/
97

77
sa

rc
op

ha
gu

s
M

ed
ar

te
fa

ct
2 

m
ed

ie
va

l c
of

fin
-li

ds
 fo

un
d 

in
 c

hu
rc

hy
ar

d 
of

 S
t A

ug
us

tin
e 

ch
ur

ch
. O

ne
 h

as
 a

 c
ro

ss
 a

nd
 th

e
ot

he
r h

as
 a

 d
ou

bl
e 

om
eg

a 
or

 fl
or

id
 c

ro
ss

 d
ec

or
at

io
n 

(R
1)

. S
ee

 a
ls

o 
R

N
 5

11
58

.

01
39

6a
TL

/1
87

8/
98

28
po

t
R

o
ca

su
al

 o
bs

er
va

tio
n,

 s
tra

y 
fin

d
R

1,
 A

 fr
ag

m
en

t o
f R

o 
C

as
to

r p
ot

te
ry

 fo
un

d 
ne

ar
 th

e 
ax

e 
de

sc
rib

ed
 in

 R
N

 0
13

96
. O

2,
P

et
er

bo
ro

ug
h 

M
us

eu
m

 h
av

e 
no

 k
no

w
le

dg
e 

of
 th

es
e 

fin
ds

. S
m

ith
 is

 n
ow

 d
ea

d.

01
64

7a
TL

/1
91

-/9
85

-
an

im
al

 re
m

ai
ns

,
cl

ay
pi

pe
, p

ot
P

 M
ed

st
ra

y 
fin

d,
 w

at
ch

in
g 

br
ie

f
R

1,
 W

at
ch

in
g 

br
ie

f k
ep

t o
n 

si
te

 d
is

tu
rb

ed
 b

y 
C

19
 c

el
la

rs
. L

at
e 

C
15

 - 
C

18
 p

ot
te

ry
, p

ip
e

fra
gm

en
ts

, b
on

es
 a

nd
 o

ys
te

r s
he

lls
. S

ee
 a

ls
o 

R
N

 0
16

47
 fo

r R
o 

po
tte

ry
.

08
76

2a
TL

/1
92

-/9
84

-
be

ad
, b

ro
oc

h
E

 M
ed

ca
su

al
 o

bs
er

va
tio

n,
 s

tra
y 

fin
d

R
1,

 A
S

 b
ro

oc
h 

an
d 

a 
gl

as
s 

be
ad

 fo
un

d 
in

 B
rid

ge
 S

tre
et

 in
 1

87
9 

an
d 

18
80

 re
sp

ec
tiv

el
y.

 S
ee

R
N

 0
87

62
 - 

R
o 

fin
ds

, 0
87

62
b 

- M
ed

 fi
nd

s,
 0

87
62

c 
- P

 M
ed

 w
in

e 
bo

ttl
e,

 0
16

55
 - 

M
ed

 fi
nd

s,
ex

ca
va

tio
n,

 0
16

55
a 

- P
 M

ed
 fi

nd
s.

08
76

2b
TL

/1
92

-/9
84

-

ar
ro

w
he

ad
, b

ow
l,

co
la

nd
er

, c
ar

vi
ng

,
ha

rn
es

s,
 ju

g,
 k

ey
,

se
al

, s
ho

e,
 to

ke
n

M
ed

ca
su

al
 o

bs
er

va
tio

n,
 s

tra
y 

fin
d

S
1,

 R
1-

R
2 

Fi
nd

s 
fro

m
 e

xc
av

at
io

ns
 in

 th
e 

B
rid

ge
 S

tre
et

 a
re

a:
 a

) s
ea

l w
ith

 c
ro

ss
 k

ey
s,

 L
25

3;
b)

 ir
on

 a
rr

ow
he

ad
 fo

un
d 

du
rin

g 
ex

ca
va

tio
ns

 1
87

9,
 L

25
4;

 c
) C

14
 h

ar
ne

ss
, h

ei
gh

t 2
,6

in
, L

58
4;

d)
 C

14
 h

ar
ne

ss
, h

ei
gh

t 1
,7

in
, L

L5
85

; e
) C

14
 ir

on
 k

ey
, L

87
2;

 f)
 ?

 C
15

 p
ai

r o
f s

ci
ss

or
s,

 le
ng

th
4,

7i
n,

 L
98

5;
 g

) C
13

 s
m

al
l j

ug
, f

ro
m

 e
xc

av
at

io
ns

 in
 1

93
1 

fo
r n

ew
 P

et
er

bo
ro

ug
h 

B
rid

ge
, L

16
1;

h)
 C

13
 ju

g 
(p

ar
t),

 d
ev

el
op

ed
 S

ta
m

fo
rd

 w
ar

e,
 fr

om
 b

an
k 

of
 N

en
e 

ne
ar

 P
et

er
bo

ro
ug

h 
B

rid
ge

,
L1

81
; i

) C
15

 c
os

tre
l, 

L1
65

, R
2,

 B
ro

nz
e 

ba
dg

es
 a

ls
o 

fo
un

d 
in

 th
e 

B
rid

ge
 S

tre
et

 a
re

a.
 R

3,
Fo

un
d 

in
 th

e 
B

rid
ge

 S
tre

et
 a

re
a 

a 
ju

g,
 a

ls
o 

fro
nt

 o
f B

el
la

rm
in

e 
sh

ow
in

g 
m

as
k.

 A
 s

hr
in

e
ca

rv
ed

 in
 B

ar
na

ck
 s

to
ne

 w
as

 d
ug

 u
p,

 a
ls

o 
an

 a
bb

ey
 to

ke
n 

an
d 

a 
sh

oe
 s

ol
e.

 S
ee

 R
N

 0
87

62
 -

R
o 

fin
ds

; 0
87

62
a 

- A
S

 fi
nd

s;
 0

87
62

c 
- P

 M
ed

 fi
nd

s;
 0

16
55

 - 
ex

ca
va

tio
n,

 M
ed

 fi
nd

s;
 0

16
55

a 
-

P
 M

ed
 fi

nd
s.

 T
he

 fi
nd

s 
un

co
ve

re
d 

an
d 

ac
ce

ss
io

ne
d 

in
 1

93
6 

ca
m

e 
fro

m
 th

e 
ea

st
 s

id
e 

of
B

rid
ge

 S
tre

et
 (R

2)
.

C
A

M
 A

R
C

 R
ep

or
t 

N
o.

 1
0

2
1
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08762c
TL/192-/984-

basin, bottle, dish,
jug

P
 M

ed
casual observation, stray find

S
1, Finds from

 excavations in the B
ridge S

treet area: a) w
ine bottle, L175; b) C

17 slipw
are

jug, (from
 P

eterborough B
ridge), L151; c) C

16 costrel, found during 1931 excavations, L166;
d) part of large C

17 serving dish, (from
 the bank of the N

ene near P
eterborough B

ridge),
L191; e) part of large C

17 serving dish, found 1950, L184; f) C
17 strainer or colander, (from

the bank of the N
ene near P

eterborough B
ridge), found 1950, L189 g) C

16 - C
17

earthenw
are basin, found during P

eterborough B
ridge excavations, 1931, L150. S

ee R
N

08762 - R
o finds; 08762a - A

S
 finds; 08762b - M

ed finds; 01655 - excavation, M
ed finds;

01655a - P
 M

ed finds.

K
ey to periods:

IA
Iron A

ge
M

ed
M

edieval
M

od
M

odern
P

a
P

alaeolithic
P

re
P

rehistoric
P

 M
ed

P
ost-m

edieval
R

o
R

om
an

U
U

ndated

C
A

M
 A

R
C

 R
eport N

o. 1
0

2
1

2
0



A
pp

en
di

x 
3

: S
um

m
ar

y 
of

 A
rc

ha
eo

lo
gi

ca
l E

xc
av

at
io

ns

P
H

E
R

 #
G

rid
M

/F
 T

YP
E

P
er

io
d

Fo
rm

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

13
91

TL
/1

91
4/

98
38

di
tc

h,
 ro

ad
, b

ui
ld

in
g

M
ed

, P
 M

ed
ex

ca
va

tio
n

E
xc

av
at

io
n 

of
 a

 p
lo

t w
ith

in
 th

e 
m

ed
ie

va
l t

ow
n 

pr
od

uc
ed

 n
o 

go
od

 e
vi

de
nc

e 
fo

r
oc

cu
pa

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
si

te
 b

ef
or

e 
C

12
, w

he
n 

tre
es

 w
er

e 
fe

lle
d 

an
d 

a 
ro

ad
w

ay
 la

id
ac

ro
ss

 th
e 

flo
od

 p
la

in
 to

 th
e 

riv
er

. A
 c

om
pl

ic
at

ed
 b

ut
 s

lo
w

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t,
in

vo
lv

in
g 

at
 le

as
t 2

 s
et

s 
of

 d
itc

he
s 

an
d 

th
e 

gr
ad

ua
l c

ol
on

iz
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
pl

ot
 b

y
bu

ild
in

gs
, t

oo
k 

pl
ac

e 
ov

er
 th

e 
ne

xt
 3

00
 y

ea
rs

. B
y 

C
15

 th
e 

si
te

 h
ad

 d
ev

el
op

ed
in

to
 th

e 
lo

ng
 s

tri
p 

di
sc

er
ni

bl
e 

on
 E

yr
e'

s 
m

ap
 o

f 1
72

1.
 R

ep
or

t t
o 

fo
llo

w
. D

ire
ct

or
F 

O
'N

ei
ll.

16
47

TL
/1

91
-/9

85
-

po
t

R
o

st
ra

y 
fin

d,
 w

at
ch

in
g 

br
ie

f
R

1,
 W

at
ch

in
g 

br
ie

f k
ep

t o
n 

si
te

 d
is

tu
rb

ed
 b

y 
C

19
 c

el
la

rs
. F

ew
 s

he
rd

s 
of

 N
en

e
V

al
le

y 
gr

ey
 w

ar
e.

 S
ee

 a
ls

o 
R

N
 0

16
47

A
 fo

r P
 M

ed
 fi

nd
s.

16
55

TL
/1

91
7/

98
33

ar
ch

ite
ct

ur
al

 fr
ag

m
en

t, 
bu

ild
in

g,
 p

ot
,

di
tc

h
M

ed
, P

 M
ed

, M
od

ex
ca

va
tio

n

R
1,

 R
2.

 A
rc

ha
eo

lo
gi

ca
l e

xc
av

at
io

ns
 w

er
e 

ca
rr

ie
d 

ou
t d

ur
in

g 
19

75
 a

nd
 1

97
6 

on
va

ca
nt

 la
nd

 d
ue

 fo
r r

ed
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
n 

w
es

t s
id

e 
of

 B
rid

ge
 S

tre
et

. E
xc

av
at

io
ns

de
m

on
st

ra
te

d 
th

at
 th

e 
ar

ea
 w

as
 in

iti
al

ly
 w

oo
de

d,
 p

ro
ba

bl
y 

w
ith

 w
ill

ow
 a

nd
 a

ld
er

.
P

rio
r t

o 
th

e 
m

id
 1

2t
h 

ce
nt

ur
y 

a 
no

rth
-s

ou
th

 c
ha

nn
el

 h
ad

 b
ee

n 
cu

t t
hr

ou
gh

 s
ilt

s,
po

ss
ib

ly
 fo

r d
ra

in
ag

e 
or

 b
oa

t a
cc

es
s,

 a
lo

ng
si

de
 a

 c
au

se
w

ay
 th

at
 m

ar
ks

 th
e

ea
rly

 ro
ut

e 
of

 B
rid

ge
 S

tre
et

. T
he

 c
ha

nn
el

 h
ad

 b
ee

n 
re

ve
tte

d 
w

ith
 w

ha
ttl

e 
ag

ai
ns

t
a 

bo
rd

er
in

g 
cl

ay
 b

an
k.

 T
he

 e
ar

lie
st

 ti
m

be
r b

ui
ld

in
g 

on
 th

e 
si

te
 p

ro
ba

bl
y 

da
te

s 
to

th
e 

12
th

 c
en

tu
ry

. O
ve

r t
he

 n
ex

t 3
00

 h
un

dr
ed

 y
ea

rs
 fu

rth
er

 ti
m

be
r s

tru
ct

ur
es

w
er

e 
co

ns
tru

ct
ed

, s
om

e 
en

cr
oa

ch
in

g 
on

 th
e 

in
-fi

lle
d 

ch
an

ne
l c

ou
rs

e.
 T

he
re

 w
as

a 
co

nt
in

ua
l b

ui
ld

-u
p 

of
 s

tru
ct

ur
es

 a
nd

 fl
oo

rs
 a

t t
he

 s
tre

et
 s

id
e 

so
 th

at
 a

n 
ar

tif
ic

ia
l

m
ou

nd
 w

as
 c

re
at

ed
. D

ur
in

g 
th

e 
15

th
 o

r 1
6t

h 
ce

nt
ur

y 
bu

ild
in

gs
 w

ith
 s

to
ne

fo
ot

in
gs

 w
er

e 
co

ns
tru

ct
ed

 a
nd

 th
er

e 
is

 e
vi

de
nc

e 
fo

r a
 je

tti
ed

 ti
m

be
r f

ra
m

e 
ho

us
e

on
 th

e 
st

re
et

 fr
on

t. 
Th

is
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

su
rv

iv
ed

 in
 a

 m
ut

ila
te

d 
co

nd
iti

on
 u

nt
il 

19
28

.
Fr

om
 a

t l
ea

st
 th

e 
C

16
 m

uc
h 

of
 th

e 
le

ng
th

 o
f t

he
 p

lo
t w

as
 b

ui
lt 

up
. T

he
 w

ho
le

si
te

 b
eg

an
 to

 b
ec

om
e 

le
ve

l w
ith

 th
e 

he
ig

ht
 o

f t
he

 s
tre

et
 fr

on
t w

he
n 

st
on

e 
w

as
us

ed
 a

s 
th

e 
m

ai
n 

bu
ild

in
g 

m
at

er
ia

l. 
D

ur
in

g 
th

e 
po

st
-m

ed
ie

va
l p

er
io

d 
dr

ai
na

ge
di

tc
he

s 
w

er
e 

ex
ca

va
te

d 
at

 th
e 

ba
ck

 o
f t

he
 p

lo
t. 

Th
e 

m
aj

or
 la

te
 m

ed
ie

va
l a

nd
po

st
-m

ed
ie

va
l a

ct
iv

ity
 a

t t
he

 s
ite

 s
ee

m
s 

to
 h

av
e 

be
en

 b
ak

in
g 

an
d 

th
er

e 
w

as
 a

fe
at

ur
e 

be
lo

ng
in

g 
to

 th
e 

17
th

 c
en

tu
ry

 th
at

 c
an

 b
e 

in
te

rp
re

te
d 

as
 a

 d
on

ke
y 

m
ill

.
19

th
 a

nd
 2

0t
h 

ce
nt

ur
y 

si
te

 o
cc

up
ie

rs
 in

cl
ud

ed
 c

oo
pe

rs
 a

nd
 ti

ns
m

ith
s.

 T
he

st
ra

tig
ra

ph
ic

 s
eq

ue
nc

e 
va

rie
d 

be
tw

ee
n 

a 
de

pt
h 

of
 1

.5
m

 a
nd

 2
.2

5m
 a

nd
pr

es
er

va
tio

n 
of

 o
rg

an
ic

 m
at

er
ia

ls
 w

as
 e

xc
el

le
nt

. S
2,

 T
he

 s
ite

 p
ro

du
ce

d 
la

rg
e

co
lle

ct
io

ns
 o

f g
la

ze
d 

S
ta

m
fo

rd
 w

ar
e 

an
d 

sh
el

ly
 w

ar
es

. L
at

e 
C

12
 - 

C
13

 -
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

S
ta

m
fo

rd
 w

ar
e 

an
d 
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pottery 08762, 08762a, 08762b, 08762c - finds m
ade earlier in the B

ridge street
area now

 in P
eterborough M

useum
.

1665
TL/1919/9816

canoe, pot
IA

excavation

R
1, O

1, A
 dug-out canoe w

as found 30/09/1950 on the N
 bank of the R

iver
N

ene at P
eterborough betw

een the road and railw
ay bridges during excavations

on the behalf of the B
ritish E

lectricity A
uthority. The canoe w

as resting on
consolidated grounds, at a depth of 17ft below

 the present river level. A
 sherd

of coarse LB
A

 grey w
are w

as found in the silt im
m

ediately below
 the canoe,

(see R
N

 01665a). P
ollen analysis w

as carried out, and although w
eak, the

evidence and the com
parison w

ith the B
rigg canoe (to w

hich class it belongs)
suggest an early IA

 date. N
ow

 in P
eterborough M

useum
. O

2, In A
pril 1970 a

special com
m

ittee chaired by P
rofessor W

 F G
rim

es found that the canoe w
as

decaying rapidly and that preservation w
as not possible. A

fter tim
ber sam

ples
had been obtained and photographic record m

ade the boat w
as burnt by the

M
useum

 A
uthorities in M

ay. R
2, (TL/1919/9816) D

ugout C
anoe found 1950.

R
3, P

robably Late IA
.
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51262
TF/1905/9796

ridge and furrow
P

 M
ed

excavation

A
n excavation w

as carried out in advance of a housing developm
ent during

2003 (R
1) follow

ing earlier evaluation trial trench evaluation. O
ne area of 20m

 x
20m

 w
as excavated by m

achine. N
o evidence of prehistoric activity w

as
revealed. Tw

o shallow
 linear depressions w

ere identified from
 w

hich post-
m

edieval pottery, clay pipes and brick w
ere retrieved. These w

ere interpreted
as the rem

ains of ridge and furrow
 and indicate post m

edieval agricultural use
of the site. There w

as also som
e indications of nearby post-m

edieval brick
production, w

ith the dum
ping of brick w

aste on the site.

51274
TL/1924/9820

w
harf, pot

M
ed

excavation

A
n evaluation w

as carried out in tw
o phases in D

ecem
ber 2002 to February

2003 in advance of a residential developm
ent (R

1). Tw
o trenches w

ere
excavated. They identified a line of upright tim

bers set along the edge of the
R

iver N
ene and into an infilled palaeochannel that contained 13th century

artefacts. The tim
bers w

ere unsuitable for dendrochronology but w
ere sealed

beneath horizons containing 15th century m
aterial. The tim

bers m
ay have

form
ed a structure to protect the bridgehead from

 the effects of tidal scouring or
alternatively they could have form

ed a section of w
harf. The occurrence of

infilled river channel m
aterial to their rear indicates a degree of land reclam

ation
and perhaps channel straightening in the m

edieval period. S
ee also R

N
 00172,

00200, 00873.

51509
TL/19046/98547

building
M

ed, P
 m

ed
building survey

P
robably C

16 origin, m
ainly refenestrated and m

uch restored. R
ubble arid

tim
ber fram

ed. R
ight hand and centre sections rendered. Irregular L-shape. 2

storey irregular front elevation. C
entre has gable to road w

ith overhanging 1st
floor, restored 3-light w

indow
 w

ith w
ood m

ullions. To the left, one 4-light w
indow

to each floor. To the right, 3 2-light w
indow

s. M
odern gabled and rendered

porch and panelled w
ood door. M

odern 'Tudor' grouped chim
ney stacks.

O
verhanging eaves. S

tone quoins.

N
os. 26 to 30 (even) Trinity P

resbyterian C
ongregational C

hurch and The
M

useum
 form

 a group. A
 detailed survey accom

panied by photographs w
as

undertaken by M
ackreth. R

1, The surviving building has been altered m
any

tim
es and one of the m

ost im
portant w

as after the S
econd W

orld W
ar w

hen the
building w

as restored to w
hat it w

as thought to be its original form
. The present

building is a relic of one late m
edieval house com

plete w
ith its stair turret, and a

fragm
ent of another to the W

est w
hich had its ow

n stair turret that w
as later

gutted. This latter w
as largely obliterated w

hen the C
hapel next door w

as built.
The division betw

een these tw
o structures w

as at the chim
ney stack betw

een
the tw

o principal room
s W

est of the E
ntrance H

all and on the street front.
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Appendix 4: Borehole Survey
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Figure 2:  HER map
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Figure 5:  Hills 1808 map
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Figure 6:  Burton's 1829 map



CAM ARC Report No. 1021

Fi
gu

re
 7

:  
G

eo
rg

e 
Sm

ith
's

 1
86

2 
M

ap



Figure 8:  1886 OS map (with site locations)
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Figure 9:  1900-1901OS map (with site locations)
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Figure 10: 1926 OS map (with site locations)
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Figure 11:  1958-59 OS map (with site locations)
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Figure 12:  1967-68 OS map (with site locations)
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Figure 13: Borehole Survey
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